IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 73,905 [TFB No. 88-30,503 (18A)]

v.

THOMAS R. ROGERS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

and

DAVID G. MCGUNEGLE
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 425-5424
Attorney No. 174919

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A" voted to find probable cause on December 7, 1988. The Bar filed its three count Complaint on March 27, 1989. The respondent moved for an extension of time to file the Referee's Report which was granted by this Court on October 11, 1989. The evidentiary hearings before the Referee were held on December 18, 19 and 20, 1989. The closing arguments and testimony in mitigation were presented at a hearing on December 28, 1989. The respondent's second motion for extension of time to file the Referee's Report was granted on February 5, 1990. A third motion for extension of time to file the Referee's Report was filed on March 21, 1990, and granted. The Referee was given until May 1, 1990, to file a report. The disciplinary hearing was held before the Referee on April 18, 1990.

The Report of Referee dated April 27, 1990, was filed with this Court on May 1, 1990. As to Count I of the Bar's Complaint, the Referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating Disciplinary Rules 1-102 (A)(6) for engaging in conduct that reflected adversely on his fitness to practice law; 5-101(A) for accepting employment where the exercise of his professional judgment on behalf of his clients was or could have been affected by his own financial, business, property, or personal interests;

and 5-104(A) for entering into a business transaction with his clients when they had differing interests therein and the clients expected the respondent to exercise his professional judgment for their protection. As to Count II of the Bar's Complaint, the Referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(6) for engaging in conduct that reflects adversely on his fitness to practice law; 5-101(A) for accepting employment where the exercise of his professional judgment on behalf of a client was or reasonably could have been affected by his own financial, business, property, or personal interests; and 5-104(A) for entering into a business transaction with clients when they had differing interests therein and the clients expected the respondent to exercise his professional judgment therein for their protection. As to Count III of the Bar's Complaint, the Referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating Article XI, Integration Rule 11.02(4) for failing to furnish an accounting of the funds as requested.

The Board of Governors considered the Report of Referee at its meeting which ended on May 16, 1990, and voted to appeal the Referee's recommended discipline. The Bar filed its petition for review on May 24, 1990, and the respondent filed a cross-petition for review dated June 1, 1990.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Because The Florida Bar does not challenge the Referee's findings of fact, the following facts, except as otherwise noted, are taken from his Report of Referee dated April 27, 1990.

In 1981 the respondent first met Father John Mitzi, a Catholic priest. Shortly thereafter, the respondent offered his assistance to the church as both a certified public accountant and as an attorney should the church require the services of either. Father Mitzi soon consulted with the respondent concerning rental property that Father Mitzi wished to purchase. For personal reasons, Father Mitzi did not want his name to appear in connection with the purchase. The respondent purposed he utilize a trust arrangement to accomplish Father Mitzi's goals including avoidance of public knowledge of the investment. Father Mitzi began utilizing the respondent's professional services in connection with a number of other real estate investment transactions as well. In connection with these various transactions, the respondent formed several trusts for Father Mitzi including the M-R trust on February 18, 1982. respondent prepared the document and acted as trustee at Father Mitzi's request. Father Mitzi was both beneficiary and grantor and made all of the cash contributions to the M-R trust. The respondent had no monetary interest in the trust.

In 1982, Father Mitzi introduced the respondent to Frank Gorman. Mr. Gorman, a resident of Michigan, was a long time friend of Father Mitzi. Mr. Gorman was interested in investing in Florida real estate and the respondent was so advised. On or around July 13, 1983, Mr. Gorman sent a check in the amount of \$30,000 to the respondent for investment purposes without specific instructions. Subsequently, on either August 6 or September 6, 1983, Mr. Gorman executed a general power of attorney appointing the respondent as his attorney in fact.

On October 31, 1983, Mr. Gorman and the respondent, acting as trustee for the M-R trust, entered into a partnership agreement to form the G-M partnership. The respondent drafted the agreement. The initial capital of G-M was \$45,000 with Mr. Gorman contributing \$30,000 and the respondent, acting as trustee for the M-R trust, \$15,000. Mr. Gorman was allocated 90% of the tax benefits associated with the investments of the partnership. The respondent had the authority to make all ordinary managerial decisions and would be compensated by 20% of the gross rental amount of the investment properties. All legal services were to be provided by the respondent's law firm at a rate of \$65.00 per hour. The respondent had a financial interest in G-M in that when an investment property was sold for a profit he would receive 1/6 of the appreciation as compensation for locating the property and directing repairs and interior decorating.

The sole investment of G-M was Sun Bay Condominium unit 236B. The purchase and sale agreement for the unit was signed earlier on August 20, 1983, for a purchase price of \$99,900. The respondent represented the M-R trust at the closing and received a legal fee for doing so. The purchase contract was then assigned to G-M after the partnership was formed. The down payment on the unit was only \$10,000. Father Mitzi was not made aware of this and stated he believed that the down payment would be \$20,000. (TI p. 127).

The respondent charged G-M a monthly management fee from October, 1986, through October, 1988, totalling \$3,965.00. Neither Mr. Gorman nor Father Mitzi received billings. Instead, the respondent took funds directly from the G-M account by adjusting bookkeeping entries and crediting himself with the capital contribution.

The respondent and his family resided in Sun Bay Unit 236B for approximately three months. (TII p. 79). While Unit 236B was rented, including the period the respondent lived there, it failed to generate sufficient income to cover the mortgage obligation.

To facilitate another investment purchase, the respondent suggested that he, Father Mitzi and Frank Gorman form the R-M-G partnership. The purpose of the new partnership was to purchase a town house unit at Sun Bay. On October 31, 1983, an agreement

to form the R-M-G partnership was entered into between the G-M partnership and the respondent. The respondent drafted the partnership agreement. The respondent was to receive 1/6 of the appreciation if an investment property was sold at a profit. The initial capital was \$45,000 with G-M contributing \$30,000 and the respondent \$15,000. According to the agreement, contributions were to be made in cash or its equivalent. The Referee found Father Mitzi and Mr. Gorman believed that all contributions were to be made in cash. Father Mitzi understood the term "cash or its equivalent" to refer to the use of a cashier's check or money order in place of currency. Mr. Gorman testified that he understood that some of the respondent's contributions might be in the form of services. (TI pp. 135-136).

The respondent billed R-M-G for legal services without advising either Father Mitzi or Mr. Gorman. Transfers were made as accounting entries directly from the account maintained by the respondent for R-M-G. The respondent maintained the partnership books and records at his law office from October 31, 1983, until the latter part of 1986.

The sole investment of R-M-G was townhouse unit #8 at Sun Bay Club Condominium which was purchased on October 31, 1983, for \$120,000 with a \$6,000 down payment. Financing was contingent upon the unit being owner occupied for at least one year. The respondent lived in the townhouse because it was not possible for either Father Mitzi or Mr. Gorman to reside there. The

Referee found Father Mitzi was not aware that the respondent intended to live in the unit until after he had already moved in.

The respondent resided in townhouse unit #8 from November, 1983, to March, 1985. From March, 1985, through July, 1985, he lived in condominium unit 236B. During this time the respondent rented out his single family home and obtained a tax benefit on his personal income tax return. The respondent paid \$600.00 per month to R-M-G for the townhouse although the fair market value was \$900.00 per month. He determined this to be the appropriate rent by deducting his 1/3 ownership interest from the fair market value. Because the mortgage payments were \$1,325.00 per month, this resulted in a negative cash flow of more than \$700.00 per month for townhouse unit #8.

Commencing in September, 1984, the respondent periodically requested additional cash contributions from Mr. Gorman to cover the negative cash flow first for G-M and then R-M-G. The two Sun Bay units generated a \$1,620.00 negative cash flow in 1983. In 1984, the amount grew to \$13,470.00. In 1985, the total negative cash flow was \$17,545. The period from January through August, 1986, saw a negative cash flow of \$14,110.00. The approximate total negative cash flow for the two Sun Bay properties was \$49,745.00. Mr. Gorman advised Father Mitzi that he, Mr. Gorman, was assuming the negative cash flow alone. Father Mitzi was not

made clearly aware of the monthly operating costs associated with either of the Sun Bay units.

The Referee found no evidence that the respondent contributed any cash to either of the partnerships. It appeared that his capital contributions consisted of attorney's fees, management fees, rent or mortgage payments and other minor services. The respondent did not adequately advise Father Mitzi and Mr. Gorman of his intention to contribute services in lieu of cash nor was it indicated on accountings prepared before June, 1985.

The respondent did not fully discuss any potential conflict of interest he may have had with Father Mitzi or Mr. Gorman prior to the execution of the G-M and R-M-G partnership agreements. Before entering into the agreements, he did not advise them of a possible conflict of interest between his role as the attorney for the partnerships and his role as an investor. He did not advise them that they should consider the advice of another attorney prior to entering into either partnership agreement.

In August, 1983, the respondent decided to purchase a condominium unit at The Moorings on Lake Maitland. This was a pre-construction development at the time. On September 2, 1983, the respondent entered into a condominium purchase and sale agreement for unit #101, building 2A, The Moorings, and signed said agreement as an individual purchaser. The contract was

non-assignable but the respondent testified that he secured a verbal agreement with the sales director, Eleanor Ecker, that the contract was assignable. The purchase price was \$104,000 with an initial deposit of \$10,400. Both the initial deposit and a later additional deposit of \$2,250.00 were drawn by the respondent from funds belonging to Mr. Gorman maintained in the respondent's account. Both Mr. Gorman and Father Mitzi testified that the respondent made these decisions without first consulting them.

On April 17, 1985, the respondent and his wife signed a good faith estimate of borrower's settlement costs with Countrywide Funding Corporation, the mortgage lender.

On April 29, 1985, the respondent wrote to Mr. Gorman and indicated that he had previously offered to take over responsibility for The Moorings unit. The respondent requested that Mr. Gorman let him know in writing how he wanted to proceed with regard to The Moorings. The Referee found that this statement implied that Mr. Gorman was not an investor on April 29, 1985.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee was unduly lenient in recommending a public reprimand as discipline. It appears that more emphasis was placed on the mitigating testimony concerning the respondent's general character than on the fact pattern and case law. The respondent's conduct shows self-dealing and lack of candor towards his clients. The recommended discipline is plainly erroneous and unjustified.

The failure to adequately disclose his conflicting interests in a business transaction with his clients, standing alone, would warrant a public reprimand. However, the respondent went beyond that in this case. He prepared the partnership agreement for R-M-G which allowed him to make capital contributions in the form The respondent then took full advantage of this of services. provision, and in effect, contributed no cash to the partnership other than rental or mortgage payments and some incidental The accountings provided to Father Mitzi and Mr. expenses. 1985, failed to disclose before June, Gorman contributions. Even during the Bar proceedings the respondent was reluctant to admit that he applied his rental and/or mortgage payments toward his capital contributions despite the fact that this was the main cash he paid. Note the Referee found no evidence of any cash contributions by him to any trust or partnership.

The respondent also utilized partnership assets, which consisted of funds paid in by Mr. Gorman, to purchase an investment property which ultimately became his personal residence after he maneuvered R-M-G out of the investment. The money used as the down payment was real. The money returned to R-M-G was nothing more than numbers on a piece of paper.

It appears that when the situation came to a head in 1985 and Mr. Gorman demanded a full accounting, rather than confront the situation and provide a full accounting showing his contribution of services in lieu of cash, the respondent refused to deal with the situation. Even now it appears from his testimony at the final hearing that he does not recognize the potential conflicts inherent in such a business transaction, that he had a duty to make a full accounting upon demand, especially after the dispute arose, and that it was improper for him not to return cash to R-M-G after Father Mitzi and Mr. Gorman indicated they did not want to invest in The Moorings.

Given the respondent's conduct, the Bar submits the Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand is an unjustified discipline and that either a sixty or ninety day period of suspension is required to better meet the goals of attorney discipline.

ARGUMENT

A SUSPENSION FOR A DEFINITE PERIOD OF SIXTY OR NINETY DAYS RATHER THAN A PUBLIC REPRIMAND IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE IN THIS CASE GIVEN THE NATURE OF THE RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT.

A referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. erroneous. 1986). This Court, however, exercises a broad scope of review in evaluating a referee's recommendation of discipline. The Florida Bar v. Patarini, 548 So.2d 1110 (Fla. 1989). The Florida Bar does not take issue with the Referee's findings of fact but believes his recommendation of a public reprimand is erroneous and unjustified given the respondent's refusal to provide an accounting upon demand, self-dealing and lack of candor with his clients. When an attorney abuses the special fiduciary position created by the attorney/client relationship to bolster his own interests at the expense of his clients, even if the abuse is unintentional, it should warrant a stern form of discipline. There is simply no more fundamental breach of an attorney's ethical responsibilities than to take advantage of clients even if it is done without the express intent to victimize the clients.

The Bar submits the Referee was unduly lenient in recommending discipline. This is yet another case of an attorney engaging in improper business transactions with clients. All of

the parties hoped to reap enormous profits but unfortunately this did not occur. The respondent's role throughout the relationship is suspect as exemplified by his reluctance to disclose to his clients the full extent of his contribution of services.

The respondent's involvement with Father Mitzi began with the formation of the M-R trust in 1982. The respondent drafted the trust agreement and named himself as trustee. (TI p. 30; B-Ex 1). Although this was done at Father Mitzi's request, the respondent did not advise his client to seek independent counsel prior to signing the trust document. (TI pp. 44, 68). This put the respondent in a position to enter into the later partnership agreements from which he ultimately benefited.

The G-M partnership was formed in October, 1983. (RR p. 2; B-Ex 3). The respondent drafted the agreement but did not advise either Father Mitzi or Mr. Gorman to consult with another attorney prior to executing the agreement. (RR p. 5). Although the respondent was not a partner, he had a financial interest in G-M. If one of the investment properties was sold for a profit he would receive 1/6 of the appreciation as compensation for locating the property and directing repairs and interior decorating. (RR p. 2; B-Ex 3). The respondent also received compensation for his managerial services in the amount of 20% of the gross rental amounts of the investment properties. (RR p. 2; B-Ex 3).

The respondent's involvement with the businesses of his clients did not end with the G-M partnership. He took matters a step further by becoming a full-fledged partner with Father Mitzi and Mr. Gorman in the R-M-G partnership which was formed in October, 1983. (RR p. 3; B-Ex 5). This was done at the respondent's suggestion in order to facilitate the purchase of investment property. (RR p. 3). The respondent drafted the agreement but did not advise either Father Mitzi or Mr. Gorman to seek the advice of independent counsel prior to executing the agreement. (RR p. 5).

The respondent's failure to disclose to his clients his conflicting interests at the outset, standing alone, warrants a public reprimand. But there is more to this case than a simple business transaction engaged in with a client. The respondent exhibited a lack of candor extending beyond his failure to disclose the conflict. It appears the accountings he provided until mid-1985 failed to disclose the true nature and extent of his capital contributions. Had they been adequate then the analysis performed by Campos and Stratis which was placed into evidence as Bar Exhibit 25 would not have been necessary. Furthermore, had Mr. Gorman and Father Mitzi known the respondent was not contributing any cash they most likely would have Although they were complained to the Bar at an earlier date. experienced investors they relied the respondent's on

professional judgment and integrity, a trust that now appears to have been misplaced.

The respondent took full advantage of the terms of the R-M-G partnership agreement he prepared. His capital contributions consisted of services rendered with the exception of his rental and/or mortgage payments and incidental expenses. He justified his payment of less than fair market value for rent by his position as a partner and manager. Despite the fact that the rental payments were most of the cash the respondent paid into the partnership, he was reluctant, even at the final hearing, to admit it. It is another example of the respondent's lack of candor with Father Mitzi and Mr. Gorman and his attempt to obscure his role to his partners.

The respondent's conduct concerning the purchase of The Moorings condominium unit is the most disturbing aspect of this case. He utilized \$12,650 in cash contributed by Mr. Gorman to R-M-G to purchase a condominium unit which ultimately became his personal residence. He placed a non-refundable deposit on the unit in 1983 without first consulting with his clients and co-investors. Furthermore, he entered into the contract for sale and purchase as an individual and only procured an oral agreement from the realtor that the contract would be assignable to one of the partnerships. Because The Moorings was in a pre-construction phase, the actual closing did not occur until some two years

later when the unit was completed. During this time period the realtor who prepared the contract could have left the area or forgotten about the oral agreement to alter the terms of the written contract. Obviously, an attorney should know the importance of reducing any agreement to writing rather than relying upon oral promises in real estate matters.

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