IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,
Complainant,
v.
THOMAS R. ROGERS,
Respondent.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a unique case that must be looked at on its own merits. The findings, which are based primarily on the testimony of Bar's main witnesses, do not match up with the exhibits. The testimony of the Bar's main witnesses is not credible because it is contradictory, inaccurate, confused, and lacking in precision. Their recall is admittedly poor and selective on the facts in issue.

The credibility of the witnesses is suspect in light of their actions relative to this matter and their vested self-interest in matters beyond the grievance. It is obvious from the citations made by the Referee and the charges alleged by the Bar that preferential treatment has been given throughout to the testimony of Mitzi because of his vocation in life. Besides the fact that much of his testimony is based on hearsay, he is the least credible and most confused witness.

The record must be looked at closely because the charges are not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

Respondent has documentary proof to support his testimony. Respondent accounted for all funds received from Mitzi and Gorman and the disbursement of those funds on properties titled in their names. Respondent accounted for his contributions to R-M-G Partnership to Mitzi and Gorman. No request was ever made to Respondent for a complete detail of his contributions into the R-M-G Partnership. Respondent responded to every request made even to the extent of providing the original records to Gorman with Mitzi's consent.

Respondent disputes the testimony of Mitzi and Gorman relative to disclosure and consent and can show that the recall of Mitzi and Gorman on this issue was selective, since both refused to acknowledge documentary evidence on the same issue. It should be noted that the rule did not require written disclosure at the time of this incident.

If this Court finds misconduct occurred, the referee's recommendation of a public reprimand should be accepted by this Court in light of the fact that no dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation was either charged or proven.

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE AT THE FINAL HEARING DID NOT MEET THE STANDARD OF PROOF REQUIRED OF CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE SHOWING THAT MISCONDUCT OCCURRED.

The Supreme Court has a continuing duty to require charges to be supported by clear and convincing evidence where the charges have been denied by reputable members of the Bar.

The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978). Respondent is a reputable member of the Bar with no prior disciplinary record. RRV, section B. Respondent has a good reputation in the community and with other members of the Bar, RRV, section C, and is known to possess good morals, to be diligent, honest, trustworthy, and to have integrity by not only other members of the Bar (TIV 12-13, 28, 34; RRV, section C). This reputation is supported by a Catholic priest who has known Respondent for twenty-four years (TIV 47-55), a member of the accounting profession (TIV 21-22), and by Respondent's business partners (TIV 34, 36-37, 44).

The burden of proof in a disciplinary action is such that the Bar must prove misconduct occurred. The accused lawyer is not required to prove his innocence.

The standard of "clear and convincing evidence" is an intermediate standard of proof, stricter than the "preponderance of evidence" standard used in civil cases and less than "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard used in criminal cases. The Florida Bar v Rayman, 238 so.2d 594 (Fla. 1970) at 596. In Smith v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 522 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). the District Court defined clear and convincing evidence as follows:

Clear and convincing evidence requires that the evidence must be found to be credible; the facts to which the witnesses testify must be precise and explicit and the witnesses must be lacking in confusion as to the facts in issue. The evidence must be of such weight that it produces in the mind

of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction, without hesitancy, as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established. (e.s.) Respondent submits that the evidence adduced at final

hearing is not clear and convincing because the witnesses are not credible and their testimony is both conflicting and confusing.

The Bar's three main witnesses were 1) Mitzi, 2) Gorman, Mitzi's close friend who invested with him in the properties in question, and 3) Files, their attorney who filed the grievance with the Bar. The credibility of all three of these witnesses is lacking.

Attorney Files is not a credible witness. For example, Files testified that he had never been given an opportunity to examine the documents in Respondent's office. TII 43. R.Ex. BBBB is a letter dated February 23, 1987 from Respondent to Attorney Files wherein Respondent provides Files the opportunity to inspect the records at Respondent's office. That letter clearly shows that Files was given the opportunity to examine the records. His denial of that opportunity is directly rebutted by documentary evidence.

Attorney Files even contradicted himself and testified he had been to Respondent's office on three occasions (TII 50-51) to inspect and pick up records of the Respondent. On two other occasions Attorney Files examined Respondent's records at Respondent's office. TII 43, 48-49. Also, Attorney Files received documents he requested from Respondent. TII 52, 56; R.Ex. CCCC 50. Files had every opportunity to examine all

records -- completely the opposite of what he was attempting to lead the Referee to believe.

Not only was Files given every opportunity to examine the records on January 30, 1987 he was given (on behalf of Mitzi and Gorman) accountings which provided details on all of the transactions. (R.Ex. CCCC) Apparently he never provided them to Mitzi (TI 118, 120; R.Ex. Y, Z, CCCC) or Gorman (TI 194; TII 13; R.Ex. KKK, YYY, CCCC). It is understandable why Mitzi and Gorman denied receiving accountings if Files withheld the accountings from them.

Another reason to discount Files' testimony is the fact that he has a vested interest by virtue of his representation in the civil action. It is to Files' financial benefit for Respondent to be found guilty of misconduct.

These are just a few examples and reasons that show that the testimony of Attorney Files is not worthy of belief.

Mitzi is not a credible witness either. On a number of matters he showed that he was not being sincere. For example, Mitzi was adamant about the fact that the only accountings that he ever saw were those shown to him by Bar Counsel at the Final Hearing. TI 53; B.Ex. 10, 11, 12, 13, 14. Yet when cross-examined, Mitzi was shown eighteen additional accountings (TI 92-122; R.Ex. A, D, G, J, K, L, M, N, O, P, Q, R, S, T, V, W, X, BB) that Mitzi admitted receiving. He so contradicted his previous testimony that it was obvious that Mitzi was not being truthful.

Mitzi says he never knew Respondent would be occupying Sun Bay Townhouse 8 until after Respondent had already moved in (TI 45). Not only did Respondent dispute this fact, but also Gorman testified that Mitzi surely knew Respondent would be occupying Sun Bay Townhouse 8 (TI 145).

When first asked by Bar Counsel whether the Power of Attorney was explained by Respondent to him Mitzi answered "no" (TI 32); yet, when cross-examined by Respondent's counsel, Mitzi directly contradicted his previous testimony and testified that it was explained to him, that he was provided a copy of it in advance before he signed it, and that it was provided to him to read, but he never read it (TI 65-66).

Mitzi said that he understood that the phrase "cash or its equivalent" used in the R-M-G Partnership Agreement to describe how contributions to capital could be made, meant "a certified check or whatever." TI 42. Yet, Mitzi said he never read the Partnership Agreement in 1983 when he received it (TI 38, 40, 42). He said he did not read the agreement until Files pointed it out to him. (TI 40-41).

Since the R-M-G Partnership Agreement was provided to Mitzi in 1983 and Mitzi admitted he never read the Agreement until 1987, Mitzi could not have had any understanding of what the phrase meant before 1987. Mitzi is not being candid here.

The referee's finding that Mitzi was a sophisticated investor contradicts the tenor of Mitzi's testimony. Mitzi

tries to give an impression of a lack of understanding. Respondent submits he was being deceptive.

Mitzi desperately wanted to make sure that his name did not appear in the public records or on documents. TI 30-32. Mitzi, a priest, did not want his parishioners to know about his large and numerous investments. (For example, he invested and lost \$37,000.00 in a business before he met Respondent (TI 81). He invested in Shannon Woods, Camino Court and his niece's land. And, he could afford to lend \$23,000.00 to his secretary for her home. All this in addition to his investments in the Sun Bay units and Maitland Investors). TI 66. For example, when Mitzi lent substantial funds to his personal secretary (TI 33-34) and took title to a townhouse jointly with her, he did so in such a manner that his name would not be disclosed immediately adjacent to his personal secretary (TIII 30-31, 83). Another example of his penchant for secrecy was when Mitzi made an agreement to purchase Gorman's Camino duplex through Respondent and never disclosed it to Gorman, his very close friend. TII 21.

Mitzi has a habit of concealing his actions when it is in his best interest to do so even at the expense of others. For example, while Respondent was still representing Mitzi, Mitzi did not even disclose to Respondent that he hired Files in August, 1986 to take action against Respondent. TII 52-54. This allowed Mitzi and Gorman, with the guidance of Files, to trick Respondent into turning over files, books, records, and

other correspondence (TI 87, 140; TIII 32-33; TIV 62-63) without Respondent seeing any necessity to make copies (TIII 33). Once the files and records were turned over, they were never returned.

When Mitzi was asked a very simple question at the final hearing about how much he invested in the M-R Trust, Mitzi could not answer the question other than to say that he presumed he put money in the Trust. TI 31. The fact that he could not answer such a basic question illustrates even more how his testimony is lacking in detail and candor, especially when Mitzi's testimony is compared with Files' testimony that Mitzi had provided him with a listing of the investment payments Mitzi had given Respondent (TII 48). Mitzi's own lawyer contradicts Mitzi's lack of knowledge as to how much Mitzi invested.

All of the above examples clearly show that Mitzi's testimony is not worthy of belief.

Gorman also lacks credibility. He admitted that he had made a false statement under oath in connection with this action when he testified at deposition that he was not in attendance at the closings on Sun Bay Condo 236 and Sun Bay Townhouse 8. In fact, Gorman had attended the closings. TI 163-164. Either he lied, or he has a terrible memory.

Gorman contradicted his own testimony on other facts at issue. For example, when Gorman was asked during direct what a General Power of Attorney is, he proved his understanding of

it when he stated it gives "someone power to do whatever they want with your money in your interest." TII 21. Then, later, when Gorman was asked about whether he realized that the General Power of Attorney that he had given Respondent provided Respondent with the authority to make a down payment on Gorman's behalf, Gorman stated he did not realize Respondent had such authority. TII 27. The latter testimony contradicts his previous testimony.

Another example of Gorman contradicting his own testimony is when Gorman testified that he never recalled any conversation with Respondent regarding conflict of interest or his right to seek independent counsel. TI 142; TII 25. This testimony is completely refuted by R.Ex VV, Gorman's Affidavit, signed personally by Gorman, which deals with the very issue of conflict of interest and the right to independent counsel.

Two other examples which illustrate contradictions between Gorman's testimony and the evidence supplied in the exhibits are the following:

1) Gorman denied documentary evidence provided by his own personal CPA when Gorman disputed his CPA's findings (R.Ex. DD) that Gorman received \$37,280 in tax refunds as a direct result of Gorman's investment in the G-M Partnership alone. TI 169-170. Gorman did not want to admit to the referee that he received substantial tax benefits from the G-M Partnership. In fact, Gorman received tax refunds of \$39,000

to \$46,000. TI 167; TII 163-166; and

2) Gorman testified he (himself) revoked his Power of Attorney before he met with Files. TI 133. B.Ex. 4, a certified letter sent by Respondent to Files with Gorman's Power of Attorney attached, responds to a request that was made by Files, not Gorman.

Even the written evidence prepared by Gorman (B.Ex. 15) is clearly contradicted and shown to be unreliable by his testimony (TI 181) and other exhibits. For example, Gorman said that his check #121, dated June 26, 1984 (B.Ex. 15) represented payment of \$2,333 to Respondent for services rendered. R.Ex. K, L, HH, YYYY, an explanatory letter and complete description of the expenses clearly show that the \$2,333 was mostly for Gorman's mortgage payment and real estate taxes and not for services. TI 181. These examples among others clearly show that Gorman is not a credible witness.

Respondent submits that the examples cited above show that none of the Bar's three witnesses are credible witnesses whose testimony is worthy of belief. Certainly their testimony does not give rise to proof by clear and convincing evidence that misconduct occurred. Their testimony is confused throughout, imprecise and inconsistent with documentary exhibits.

Bar Counsel admitted in the opening sentence of his closing argument that the testimony and exhibits are

confusing. TIII 46. That is simply because the testimony of the Bar's witnesses does not line up with the facts shown by the exhibits.

With respect to Mitzi for example, he testified a number of times that he is and was confused as to the facts. TI 49. Upon receiving all of the tax returns, charts, and other accountings (TI 63, 107, 111; See Appendix B - Listing of Accounting Exhibits) and during the lengthy meetings where Respondent explained the accountings provided, Mitzi never indicated that he did not understand anything. At all times he expressed satisfaction. Now that the action has been filed against Respondent, he has reversed his story. Now Mitzi puts it "...maybe I'm stupid, but it is all Greek to me" (TI 49), "Let's say I just didn't understand...." (TI 51, 113-114), and "and I don't understand them right now" (TI 61). If Mitzi did not understand, why didn't he ever ask questions (TI 60-62, 99) and why did he state that he was satisfied with the explanations that Respondent provided (TI 97)?

Another example of confused testimony occurs when Mitzi was asked by Bar Counsel about his contribution to the G-M Partnership. Mitzi gave a non-responsive answer and testified that it was Mitzi's impression that Respondent was to contribute \$20,000. Bar Counsel himself then had to remind Mitzi that Respondent was not a partner in the G-M Partnership and, therefore, Respondent would not have made any contribution to the G-M Partnership. TI 38-39. In fact,

there is no \$20,000 figure anywhere in the G-M Partnership Agreement (B.Ex. 3) or the R-M-G Partnership Agreement (B.Ex. 5).

When asked about the trust agreement that was drawn up for Mitzi and his personal secretary, Josie, relative to the townhouse that was purchased for her (TI 33), Mitzi could not even identify the trust agreement. "M-G, I think, or G-M; yeah M-G," he said. TI 34. The name of the trust was the M-J Trust (VIII 30-31): "M" for Mitzi, "J" for Josie. Because all trusts and partnerships were labeled with letters representing the names of the participants, this testimony also proves Mitzi's lack of straight forwardness and/or selective memory.

When asked about how much was to be contributed by the partners (TI 39), Mitzi's response was again not responsive to the question. He said "I was under the impression that twenty thousand, twenty and twenty" were to be used as down payments for the three units. (TI 39). Not only was the answer confusing and non-responsive to the question, none of the partnership agreements or charts list a \$20,000 figure (B.Ex. 5, 3, 10, 11).

On the issue of the down payments, Mitzi's confusion contrasts vividly with Gorman's recall of the figures on this issue. Gorman recalled the precise down payments: \$10,000 on Sun Bay Condo 236 (TI 136) and \$6,000 on Sun Bay Townhouse 8 (TI 137). Gorman lived miles away in Michigan and came to

Florida only about twice a year, whereas Mitzi met with Respondent on almost a weekly basis during this time (TIII 42) and received the identical documents that Gorman did.

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